IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-TS-00109

MICHAEL AND MARY ROBICHAUX

APPELLANTS

V.

NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY AND JAY FLETCHER INSURANCE

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI JACKSON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT CAUSE NO. 2006-00,303(1)

APPELLANT'S BRIEF (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

BARTON LAW FIRM, PLLC

W. Harvey Barton, MSB Brandon C. Jones, MSB 3007 Magnolia Street Pascagoula, MS 39567 Telephone: (228) 769-2070 Facsimile: (228) 769-1992

BARIA LAW FIRM, PLLC

David W. Baria, MSB # Marcie Fyke Baria, MSB # 544 Main Street Bay St. Louis, MS 39520 Telephone: (228) 270-0001 Facsimile: (228) 466-9233

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

This case concerns the devastating effects of Hurricane Katrina on the home of Michael and Mary Robichaux¹. In 1991, Michael Robichaux, a Deputy Sherriff with the Jackson County Sherriff's Department, and Mary Robichaux, an office manager for Dr. Christopher E. Wiggins, M.D. of Bienville Orthopedic Specialists purchased their dream home on Washington Avenue in Pascagoula, Mississippi. The home, built in 1975, is depicted below as it looked prior to Hurricane Katrina.



In 1993, the Robichauxs chose Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company (hereinafter "Nationwide") to provide homeowner's insurance for their family. At the time of Hurricane Katrina, the home was insured under an "all risk" policy providing coverage of \$131,000.00 against "accidental direct physical loss". (R. 136) Additionally, the policy insured other

¹ Plaintiff, Mary Robichaux, untimely died on May 8, 2010. Plaintiff subsequently filed a Notice of Suggestion of Death on May 19, 2010.

structures on the property against "direct physical loss" in the amount of \$13,100.00 and the Robichauxs' personal property for up to \$97,405.00. (R. 211)

Prior to Hurricane Katrina, Fletcher Insurance represented to the Robichauxs that they had full and comprehensive insurance coverage under the subject policy and Hurricane Endorsement for any and all damage that is typically caused by a hurricane, including damage proximately and efficiently caused by hurricane wind and damage caused from storm surge proximately caused by hurricanes. (R. 182) At the urging of Fletcher Insurance, the Robichauxs, rather than increasing the amount of coverage under their flood policy, purchased a Hurricane Endorsement. (R.182) The Hurricane Endorsement states in pertinent part:

HURRICANE COVERAGE

Coverage under this policy includes loss or damage caused by the peril of windstorm during a hurricane. It includes damage to a building's interior or property inside a building, caused directly by rain, snow, sleet, hail, sand or dust if direct force of the windstorm first damages the building causing an opening through which the above enters and causes damage.

Fletcher Insurance expressly represented that the Hurricane Endorsement would provide full and comprehensive coverage for those damages caused by hurricanes. (R. 182)

On August 28, 2005, Hurricane Katrina made landfall along the Mississippi Gulf Coast completely destroying the Robichauxs' Washington Avenue home to the slab. Forensic meteorologist Rocco Calaci reasons that "sustained wind speeds over Pascagoula were in the 120 mph to 125 mph range with higher gusts." As Calaci explains, "[t]his number is supported by wind speeds of 137 mph and 140 mph measured at the Pascagoula Emergency Operations Center prior to the loss of power." (R. 1067) Storm surge from Hurricane Katrina impacted the property long after winds damaged the Robichauxs' home, washing away all evidence of causation. In Calaci's opinion, a majority of the damage done to the Robichaux's home can be attributed to severe weather including microbursts and tornadic activity as well as extreme wind

speeds and flying debris. (R. 1083) As Calaci explains, the water that ultimately moved over the Washington Avenue property merely served to "mask the initial cause of damage." (R. 1083)

In response to the absolute and catastrophic loss by its insureds of over 13 years, Nationwide paid the Robichaux family \$500 for food loss (R. 851) and \$2,500.00 for alternative living expenses (R. 848) claiming all other damage was excluded by its water damage exclusion, including the "anti-concurrent cause" clause (hereinafter "ACC") contained in the policy. (R. 170) Specifically, while admitting an absolute accidental direct physical loss, Nationwide relied on the following provisions for denial of the Robichaux claim:

Property Exclusions (Section I)

- 1. We do not cover loss to any property resulting directly or indirectly from any of the following. Such a loss is excluded even if another cause or event contributed concurrently or in any sequence to cause the loss.
 - b. Water or damage caused by water-borne material. Loss resulting from water or waterborne material damage described below is not covered even if other perils contributed, directly or indirectly to cause the loss. Water and water-borne material damage means:
 - (1) flood, surface water, waves, tidal waves, overflow of a body of water, spray from these, whether or not driven by wind.
 - (2) water or water-borne material which:
 - (a) backs up through sewers or drains from outside the dwelling's plumbing system;
 - or
 - (b) overflows a sump pump, sump pump well or other system designed to remove subsurface water or water-borne material from the foundation area.
 - (3) Water or water-borne material below the surface of the ground, including water or water-borne material which exerts pressure on, seeps or leaks through a building, sidewalk, driveway, foundation, swimming pool, or other structure.

Nationwide's complete denial of Plaintiffs' claim is notable for several reasons. Although its engineering firm, Haag Engineering, was aware that a forensic analysis would be crucial in determining whether wind or water caused the loss, none was ordered. Nationwide also did not hire a meteorologist to determine what the wind forces were at the Robichaux home prior to the arrival of storm surge before denying the claim. Even more puzzling, Nationwide's own engineering report submitted on January 16, 2006 clearly leaves open the possibility of wind damage where it states "Wind damage, if any, would have been limited to cladding items such as roof shingles." (R. 863) This finding was ignored and Nationwide undertook no further investigation until long after it denied the Robichaux claim on March 24, 2006.

Nationwide's conduct toward the Robichauxs is most striking when compared to the company's handling of the claims of the Robichaux's neighbors. Nationwide extended the benefits of substantially similar policies to both of the Robichaux's immediate neighbors. (R. 1300 and R. 1351) Nationwide was made aware of this inconsistency on two (2) separate occasions in the form of letters from Plaintiffs' counsel on September 11, 2006 (R. 1284-5) and again on October 17, 2006. (R. 1283) Despite being advised of its inconsistent handling of the claims of its insureds in close proximity to each other, Nationwide held firm in its denial of the Robichaux claim. Nationwide has continued to ignore its handling of other similarly situated claims.

B. Course of Proceedings Below

This matter was originally filed in the Circuit Court of Jackson County on October 26, 2006. (R. 46-94) Shortly thereafter, Nationwide had the matter removed to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi largely on the basis that Defendant Jay Fletcher Insurance was improperly joined. (R. 35) This argument was ultimately rejected by the Southern District and the case was remanded back to the Jackson County Circuit Court. (R. 302) Because all Circuit Court judges for Jackson County recused themselves from Katrina-related matters, this case was assigned to Special Judge Billy G. Bridges.

In anticipation of trial, the parties filed a total of thirty-two (32) pre-trial motions including Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Plaintiffs' motion argued that the ACC provision conflicted with the Hurricane Coverage and Deductible Provision Endorsement and that the ambiguity created by the two should be resolved in Plaintiffs' favor. (R. 954-993) For its part, Nationwide sought summary judgment on the basis of the effect and enforceability of the ACC provision as it related to the loss of the Robichaux home. (R.473-920)

1. September 2, 2009 Hearing

On September 2, 2009, the parties presented oral arguments on Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and partial oral arguments on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. At the conclusion of oral arguments on Plaintiffs' motion, Judge Bridges said, "All right. What you're saying is that it's ambiguous when you read the two provisions, and I think so, too. I'm going to grant your motion." Hrg. Transcr. 15:14-17 (Sept. 2, 2009).

At this point, the trial court heard arguments on another motion and after denying same, the court entertained arguments on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Nationwide's Motion for Summary Judgment was multi-faceted and sought summary judgment on virtually every policy provision. In an effort to reduce confusion at the hearing, the parties addressed each argument before moving to the next. This pattern held up until, at the conclusion of Nationwide's argument regarding Plaintiffs' claims for equitable estoppel and equitable reformation for fraud, the following exchange occurred:

JUDGE BRIDGES: Are you through?

MR. ATTRIDGE (Counsel for Nationwide): No, Your Honor.

JUDGE BRIDGES: -- as to that, your summary judgment?

MR. ATTRIDGE: As to equitable estoppel, equitable reformation of fraud, yes, I've finished all of that if he wants to address that.

MR. BARIA (Counsel for Plaintiffs): Very briefly, Your Honor.

JUDGE BRIDGES: I thought you had.

MR. BARIA: No, sir, not those particular issues.

JUDGE BRIDGES: All right.

Id. at 94:17-95:3. At this point, Plaintiffs' counsel offered its argument on the subject of equitable estoppel and equitable reformation of fraud followed by Defendant's reply. As the parties were preparing to move to the remaining portions of Nationwide's motion, Judge Bridges abruptly stated:

JUDGE BRIDGES: Okay. I'm going to grant your motion, but I will rehear any motion that might change the circumstances as a result of the *Corban* case being finally adjudicated. I don't know—I don't know how it would change this, but I would—I would be open to hearing this again if – if the Supreme Court decides differently than what we've heard today."

Id. at 100:21-29. Plaintiffs' understanding that the trial court was only granting those equitable

portions of Nationwide's motion was immediately obvious as Plaintiffs' counsel replied:

MR. BARIA: Well, Your Honor, I don't think anything—and I don't know the *Corban* case inside and out, but I don't think anything the *Corban* court has before it will impact on the issue of the agent's responsibility under a fraud claim, but I could definitely be wrong.

Id. at 101:1-7. Moments later confusion washed over the proceedings as, without hearing the

rest of Nationwide's argument on its own motion, Judge Bridges continued:

JUDGE BRIDGES: All right. My ruling stands, though.

MR. ATTRIDGE: Granting summary judgment to the defendants?

JUDGE BRIDGES: Yes. Okay. What's the next one?

MR. ATTRIDGE: Judge, I think that moots all the other motions if summary judgment has been granted in the defendants' favor.

MR. BARIA: It's on the issue of - as I understand the Court, its (sic) on the issue of equitable estoppel, equitable reformation of fraud.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Yeah. Yeah. The ones you argued—why would you—what other motions would it cover?

MR. ATTRIDGE: Well, all of the coverages, Your Honor, we argued all of the coverages.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Yeah. So which ones would those be, for the benefit of the record?

MR. ATTRIDGE: Well, we argued all of the coverages under the policy, including Coverages A, B, C, and D and K and any other coverages that plaintiffs would claim.

MR. JONES: I think, just to be clear-

MR. ATTRIDGE: Just let me finish if I could.

MR. JONES: Okay.

MR. ATTRIDGE: And we also argued with respect to constructive trust and unjust enrichment.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Yeah.

MR. ATTRIDGE: And then we just finished the argument with respect to equitable estoppel and reformation of fraud. And the plaintiffs had previously indicated they were not going to contest our Motion for Summary Judgment on Injunction, Specific Performance and Indemnity Claims.

MR. BARIA: Your Honor, I think counsel misunderstood the Court's ruling on this, and there are at least six issues as I pointed out when I first began my argument. We were only arguing organizing one of those six issues in that last portion of the argument, and my understanding is that's what the Court was granting summary judgment on, that one particular issue concerning equitable estoppel, equitable reformation of fraud, those claims in the complaint.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Yeah.

MR. BARIA: The Court said it wasn't going to reach the bad faith portion of the summary judgment today. So those are issues that we haven't even argued at this point. And then there are the issues concerning policy coverages that we argued before our break. There's an issue of constructive trust, unjust enrichment, and then we conceded the two that counsel advised the Court and we earlier advised the Court we were conceding.

JUDGE BRIDGES: I'm not sure that I'm smart enough to understand what you argued and what I need to rule on. I'm certainly ruling on the—I think I'm ruling on the unjust enrichment aspect of it. Do you have a—do you have that motion with the attachments so that I can kind of look at it? I'm sorry, I didn't—either one of you.

MR. ATTRIDGE: We will. Just a second, Your Honor.

MR. JONES: Here's the Summary Judgment Motion, Your Honor.

MR. ATTRIDGE: That's the attachments.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Se we've covered—okay. As to Coverage A, B, C and D, it's granted. The motion is granted. As to number, Roman Numeral II, the constructive trust and unjust enrichment, the motion is granted.

Now, I might have to be reminded about the specific performance, injunction and specific performance.

MR. BARIA: We conceded that portion of the motion, Your Honor.

JUDGE BRIDGES: All right. And as to Roman Numeral IV?

MR. BARIA: We conceded that portion of the motion.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Okay. All right. You didn't concede as to Roman Numeral V-

MR. BARIA: No, sir.

JUDGE BRIDGES: --equitable estoppel. Okay. My ruling applies to that. And that-

MR. BARIA: Well, Your Honor, somebody can correct me if I'm wrong, but if that's the Court's ruling, then you've granted summary judgment on all claims, because without actual damages, I'm not sure that we can go forward with a bad faith case under Mississippi law, so you've just ended the case.

Id. at 102:19-106:12.

The uncertainty and confusion of the moment persisted when the trial court inquired as to

remaining motions and the upcoming trial date and finally, addressed the court's oral approval of

two competing motions for summary judgment:

JUDGE BRIDGES: Does that get all the motions then?

MR. BARIA: Well, there's no case left. So we don't have to go into motions in limine. You just granted a summary judgment on all issues.

JUDGE BRIDGES: All right. Okay. Off the record.

(Off the record.)

JUDGE BRIDGES: Both sides will submit findings of fact and conclusions of law. You want to be first?

MR. ATTRIDGE: Or simultaneous.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Okay. Simultaneously, then. Ten days enough? Two weeks? We're getting-

MR. BARIA: Two weeks is fine.

JUDGE BRIDGES: We're getting to the date of the trial of this case, so-

MR. BARIA: Your Honor, I am very confused now. I don't understand what the Court is doing. There won't be a trial if you've granted summary judgment on all issues. That's why we don't need to take up the motions in limine. And I'm afraid the Court—you first granted our Motion for Summary Judgment.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Uh-huh.

MR. BARIA: In that the policy, itself, is ambiguous and should be construed in favor of the insureds. And then we've gone through the defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment which you've just granted in whole.

So I don't think the two are necessarily in agreement, and there—

JUDGE BRIDGES: Well, they may not be. Well, give me your-

MR. ATTRIDGE: They certainly—we, obviously, respectfully disagree with the earlier ruling by the Court, but it doesn't in any way indicate that the Court's ruling is incorrect with respect to our summary judgment option.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Well-

MR. ATTRIDGE: So back to the Court's question, we're happy to submit proposed findings and conclusions—

JUDGE BRIDGES: Do that.

MR. ATTRIDGE: -- simultaneously or in sequence, whatever the Court prefers.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Let me have it in 10 days, and I could reverse some ruling, but I think I understand, fully, what you've argued here today, and I think my ruling is correct. If you want to show me differently in your findings and conclusions, I'll be glad to reconsider it, but that's my ruling at this point.

MR. ATTRIDGE: And in light of that, I agree with Mr. Baria that the trial date is off.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Yeah. Okay.

MR. ATTRIDGE: Thank you for your time and attention, Your Honor.

JUDGE BRIDGES: Yes, sir, all right. Thank you.

Id. at 106:26-109:5.

2. Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Judgment

On October 5, 2009, the Court entered its Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Judgment denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, and rendering judgment in favor of the Defendants. (R. 2002-2017) In his lengthy opinion, Judge Bridges acknowledged that at the time of the hearing, he granted Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment but had since changed his mind. Oddly, the trial court provided no explanation for this reversal, save the following conclusory statement, "Upon consideration, the Court reverses and withdraws its ruling on Plaintiff's' (sic) Motion for Summary Judgment, and denies said motion." (R. 2003) To this date, the only substantive utterance by the trial court on the subject of Plaintiffs' contention that Nationwide's insurance contract is ambiguous is the court's statement of agreement during the September 2, 2009 hearing.

The trial court's judgment in this matter is largely a coverage by coverage denial of Plaintiffs' claim. However, there are two notable findings made early in the conclusions of law section that seem to frame the case for the trial court. First, the court states that Plaintiffs' cannot prove their case because "[t]here were no eyewitnesses to the damage to the Robichaux home during Hurricane Katrina." (R. 2008)² Second, the trial court provides its truncated view of burden of proof in these matters, namely, that it is plaintiffs who must not only provide evidence

² There can be no mistaking that the trial court is under the impression that in order to prevail, Plaintiffs would have to offer eyewitness testimony. During the September 2, 2009 hearing, Judge Bridges asked Plaintiffs' attorney, "Well, do you have—are you going to have proof or do you have proof that somebody saw the wind do damage before the water?" Hrg. Transcr. 52:7-10 (Sept. 2, 2009). Several minutes later, the trial judge broached the subject of eyewitnesses again asking, "Well, how are you going to show that? What witness have you got to say that during some time that rain came in and destroyed the contents rather than the surge?" *Id.* at 66:5-9.

of a direct, physical loss to property but must also connect that loss to a condition or event covered in the policy. $(R. 2009)^3$

On October 9, 2009, Plaintiffs filed their Motion to Reconsider directing the trial court's attention to this Court's ruling in *Corban v. USAA*, 20 So.3d 601 (Miss. 2009). (R. 2018-2022) On December 28, 2009, the trial court entered its Order denying Plaintiffs' motion without reference to *Corban*.

The lower court ruling in this matter ignores this Court's precedent in hurricane related cases and has the potential to deprive Mississippi homeowners of essential insurance coverage. This case now comes on direct appeal to this Honorable Court.

III. <u>SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT</u>

Plaintiffs advance five distinct reasons reversal of the lower court decision is merited. Each alternative argument provides a sufficient basis for reversal of that decision. At the same time, each issue carries significant, adverse, and erroneous consequences for Mississippi citizens in a variety of circumstances. While reversal is appropriate if Plaintiffs prevail on any one ground, the public would benefit from this Court's pronouncement of Mississippi law on each issue.

A. THE "HURRICANE COVERAGE AND DEDUCTIBLE PROVISION" AND THE "ANTI-CONCURRENT CAUSATION PROVISION" OR "WEATHER CONDITIONS" EXCLUSION, WHEN CONSIDERED TOGETHER, CREATE AN AMBIGUITY WHICH SHOULD BE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF THE INSUREDS.

The policy issued by Nationwide in this matter contains both an ACC clause and Hurricane Coverage and Deductible Provision Endorsement. Nationwide's denial of coverage

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