CASE NO. 2010-TS-00109

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL AND MARY ROBICHAUX,

APPELLANTS

v.

**NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY; and
JAY FLETCHER INSURANCE,**

APPELLEES

**BRIEF OF APPELLEES NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE
INSURANCE COMPANY and JAY FLETCHER INSURANCE**

**ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
(ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)**

H. Mitchell Cowan, MSB # [REDACTED]
Laura L. Hill, MSB # [REDACTED]
Janet D. McMurtray, MSB # [REDACTED]
WATKINS LUDLAM WINTER & STENNIS, P.A
190 East Capitol Street, Suite 800 (39201)
Post Office Box 427
Jackson, MS 39205-0427
Telephone: (601) 949-4900

Daniel F. Attridge, P.C.

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

caused by a covered peril, there was no basis for a trial, and the trial court properly granted defendants summary judgment. “[Summary] judgment . . . shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c).

This approach is completely consistent with settled Mississippi law regarding the burden of proof in insurance coverage cases involving “all risk” policies. *See, e.g., Corban*, 20 So.3d at 618-19. Here, plaintiffs had the initial burden of showing that a loss occurred, *see id.*, and they carried that burden. The burden then shifted to defendants to show by a preponderance of the evidence that the loss was caused by an excluded peril. *See id.* As the trial court recognized, defendants carried that burden by showing, in the evidence attached to their summary judgment motion, that the losses at issue here were caused by flooding, and that plaintiffs were fully compensated for those losses by flood insurance. (*See* R. 2009-12, R.E. 31 at 8-11.) Plaintiffs presented no evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact on causation, or the existence of an uncompensated loss, so the trial court properly granted defendants summary judgment.

Having decided that plaintiffs failed to create a genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of uncompensated losses caused by a covered peril, the trial court readily, and correctly, proceeded to grant defendants summary judgment on the remaining coverage claims.

First, the trial court correctly held that plaintiffs’ claim for living expense coverage fails as a matter of law because “in order to qualify for additional living expenses under the subject homeowner’s policy, Plaintiffs’ residence must be rendered uninhabitable by a covered event.” (R. 2011, R.E. 31 at 10.) In addition, the trial court noted that “Plaintiffs fail to offer sufficient proof that they actually incurred uncompensated living expenses,” because they “have not provided Defendants with any receipts for additional living expenses,” as required by the

policy—“much less any receipts showing that they spent over \$2,500,” the amount of additional living expenses that Nationwide provided them in the immediate aftermath of the hurricane. (R. 2012, R.E. 31 at 11; *see also* R. 847-49, R.E. 18 at Exh. 9.) Plaintiffs have not challenged any of these points in their opening brief, and cannot challenge them for the first time in their reply brief. *See, e.g., Paw Paw Island*, 51 So.3d at 928; *Bishop*, 882 So.2d at 154-55; *Watts*, 492 So.2d at 1291; *Overstreet*, 474 So.2d at 577.

Second, the trial court correctly held that plaintiffs’ claim for replacement cost coverage fails as a matter of law because plaintiffs are not entitled to such coverage if they are not entitled to “dwelling and contents coverage” in the first place, so the issue of replacement cost coverage is “effectively moot.” (R. 2013, R.E. 31 at 12.) In addition, the trial court noted that “it is undisputed that Plaintiffs have not repaired or replaced their dwelling,” and that “Plaintiffs have offered no proof of actual and incurred costs for the replacement of their contents.” (*Id.*) Plaintiffs have not challenged any of these points in their opening brief, and cannot challenge them for the first time in their reply brief. *See, e.g., Paw Paw Island*, 51 So.3d at 928; *Bishop*, 882 So.2d at 154-55; *Watts*, 492 So.2d at 1291; *Overstreet*, 474 So.2d at 577.

Third, the trial court correctly held that plaintiffs’ claim for building ordinance or law coverage fails as a matter of law because “Plaintiffs have offered no proof that they are entitled to additional dwelling coverage under the policy.” (R. 2013, R.E. 31 at 12.) In addition, the trial court noted that “Plaintiffs have not ‘repaired or replaced [their structure] at the residence premises,’ a requirement of the policy, and so they cannot invoke this coverage.” (*Id.* (quoting R. 88).) Plaintiffs have not challenged any of these points in their opening brief, and cannot challenge them for the first time in their reply brief. *See, e.g., Paw Paw Island*, 51 So.3d at 928; *Bishop*, 882 So.2d at 154-55; *Watts*, 492 So.2d at 1291; *Overstreet*, 474 So.2d at 577.

Fourth, the trial court correctly held that plaintiffs' claim for water back up coverage fails as a matter of law because "Plaintiffs had not purchased this option and thus cannot now seek coverage under it." (R. 2013, R.E. 31 at 12.) In addition, the trial court noted that "Plaintiffs have produced no evidence of water back up, and were unable to identify any such evidence at the hearing." (*Id.*) Plaintiffs have not challenged any of these points in their opening brief, and cannot challenge them for the first time in their reply brief. *See, e.g., Paw Paw Island*, 51 So.3d at 928; *Bishop*, 882 So.2d at 154-55; *Watts*, 492 So.2d at 1291; *Overstreet*, 474 So.2d at 577.

Fifth, the trial court correctly held that plaintiffs' claim for debris removal and landscaping coverage fails as a matter of law because "neither hurricane damage nor other weather damage is one of the named perils that would qualify the plaintiffs for coverage under this contractual provision." (R. 2014, R.E. 31 at 13.) In addition, the trial court noted that "Plaintiffs have not produced or identified any evidence of actual expenses for debris removal or landscaping expenses." (*Id.*) Plaintiffs have not challenged any of these points in their opening brief, and cannot challenge them for the first time in their reply brief. *See, e.g., Paw Paw Island*, 51 So.3d at 928; *Bishop*, 882 So.2d at 154-55; *Watts*, 492 So.2d at 1291; *Overstreet*, 474 So.2d at 577.

Sixth, the trial court correctly held that plaintiffs' claim for inflation coverage fails as a matter of law because "Plaintiffs have offered no proof that they are entitled to additional dwelling coverage under the subject policy." (R. 2014, R.E. 31 at 13.) In addition, the trial court noted that "Plaintiffs offer no evidence, expert or otherwise, of the alleged inflation costs." (*Id.*) Plaintiffs have not challenged any of these points in their opening brief, and cannot challenge

them for the first time in their reply brief. *See, e.g., Paw Paw Island*, 51 So.3d at 928; *Bishop*, 882 So.2d at 154-55; *Watts*, 492 So.2d at 1291; *Overstreet*, 474 So.2d at 577.⁴

Finally, the trial court properly rejected plaintiffs' non-contractual claims for constructive trust, unjust enrichment, equitable estoppel, equitable reformation, and fraud. (*See* R. 2014-16, R.E. 31 at 13-15.) As relevant here, the court rejected plaintiffs' fraud claims based on the theory that Jay Fletcher Insurance orally assured them that they had coverage for flooding caused by a hurricane under their homeowners policy and thus did not need additional coverage under their flood policy. As the trial court explained, that theory fails as a matter of law for two separate and independent reasons. *First*, plaintiffs failed to create a genuine issue of material fact as to whether they would have purchased additional flood insurance but for the alleged misrepresentations. (*See* R. 2015-6, R.E. 31 at 14-15.) To the contrary, the undisputed record here establishes that "independent of any statements by Jay Fletcher Insurance, Plaintiffs consistently sought to have as much flood insurance as they could afford," and in fact purchased flood insurance that more than covered the value of their property. (*Id.*) *Second*, in any event, any reliance on Fletcher's alleged oral representations would have been unreasonable as a matter of law because "the alleged representations contradict the clear terms" of the written insurance policy. (R. 2016, R.E. 31 at 15 (citing, *inter alia*, *Godfrey, Bassett & Kuykendall Architects, Ltd. v. Huntington Lumber & Supply Co.*, 584 So.2d 1254, 1257 (Miss. 1991)).)

B. Plaintiffs' Various Challenges To The Trial Court's Decision Are Unavailing.

Plaintiffs' opening brief is noteworthy for its failure to challenge the grounds, described above, for the trial court's decision against them. Rather, plaintiffs devote their efforts primarily to discussing various issues that have no bearing on the outcome of this case.⁵

⁴ The trial court further noted that plaintiffs conceded their claim for injunction, specific performance, and indemnity, as well as their claim for extra-contractual damages, bad faith, and punitive damages. (*See* R. 2015-16, R.E. 31 at 14-15.)

First, plaintiffs cite the so-called “anti-concurrent causation” clause in their policy, which provided that loss from an excluded peril is “excluded even if another peril or event contributed concurrently or in any sequence to cause the loss.” (See Pls.’ Br. at 23-27.) But the trial court did not rely upon that clause in granting defendants summary judgment. The clause comes into play when there is a dispute as to whether a given loss was caused by wind (a covered peril) or flooding (an excluded peril). See, e.g., *Corban*, 20 So.3d at 616. The problem for plaintiffs here, as explained above, is that they failed to create a genuine issue of material fact with respect to the cause of their losses. Accordingly, plaintiffs’ extensive arguments about the interpretation of the anti-concurrent causation clause miss the point.⁶ It is simply not true, as plaintiffs assert, that “the trial court has adopted the position that any loss that storm surge would have caused,

⁵ Plaintiffs assert in passing (although it is not one of the points of error challenged in their opening brief) that the trial court held that “Plaintiffs’ [*sic*] cannot prove their case *because* ‘there were no eyewitnesses to the damage to the Robichaux home during Hurricane Katrina.’” (Pls.’ Br. at 11 (quoting R. 2008, R.E. 31 at 7 (emphasis added)); see also *id.* at 11 n.2.) That assertion is incorrect. The trial court merely noted that there were no eyewitnesses to the damage, (see R. 2004, 2008, R.E. 31 at 3, 7,) but neither held nor suggested that this point precluded plaintiffs from proving their case. Rather, as noted in the text, the trial court ruled against plaintiffs on the ground that they failed to present a genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of uncompensated damage from a covered peril.

⁶ The most the trial court said about the anti-concurrent causation clause was to observe, in *dicta*, that plaintiffs’ anti-concurrent causation argument failed on its own terms. “[E]ven had Plaintiffs offered competent evidence of wind damage”—which they did not—“there is no dispute that it would have occurred ‘concurrently or in any sequence’ with flood damage” under the facts of this case. Here, plaintiffs’ own causation expert Mott “concluded that, had there been any wind damage, it would ‘have been still occurring as the storm surge was arriving.’” (R. 2009-10, R.E. 31 at 8-9; see also R. 650, R.E. 18 at Exh. 5.) Such contemporaneous concurrent damage is what the anti-concurrent causation clause is all about. See, e.g., *Corban*, 20 So.3d at 616 (“The [anti-concurrent causation] clause applies only if and when covered and excluded perils contemporaneously converge, operating in conjunction, to cause damage resulting in loss to the insured property.”); *id.* at 618 (“[W]hen facts in a given case establish a truly ‘concurrent’ cause, *i.e.*, wind and flood simultaneously converging and operating in conjunction to damage the property, . . . there is an ‘indivisible’ loss which would trigger application of the [anti-concurrent causation] clause.”); *id.* at 619 (anti-concurrent causation clause “comes into play only when ‘flood damage’ is a cause or event contributing concurrently to the loss.”) (emphasis and brackets omitted).

irrespective of prior damage, is excluded,” (Pls.’ Br. at 13,) and plaintiffs (not surprisingly) provide no citation for that remarkable assertion. To the contrary, the trial court initially *granted* plaintiffs partial summary judgment with respect to their interpretation of the clause, and only reversed course when its decision to grant defendants plenary summary judgment effectively mooted the partial summary judgment in plaintiffs’ favor. (See 9/2/09 Hrg. Tr. at 132.)⁷ Plaintiffs never come to terms with the fact that the trial court did not rely on the anti-concurrent causation clause in ruling against them.⁸

Second, plaintiffs argue at great length about the relevance of evidence regarding Nationwide’s adjustment of their neighbors’ property-damage claims. (See Pls.’ Br. at 27-32.) This argument is a classic red herring. Regardless of whether such evidence is relevant (an issue the trial court here did not address), it certainly does not suffice, on the facts of this case, to defeat summary judgment. Plaintiffs cannot create a genuine issue of material fact regarding the cause of their *own* losses, which their own causation expert did not dispute were caused by flooding and for which they were fully compensated by flood insurance, (R. 2009, R.E. 31 at 8,) by trying to change the subject to the cause of *someone else*’s losses.

Third, plaintiffs argue that the trial court “improperly dismissed” their claims against defendant Jay Fletcher Insurance for “unjust enrichment, equitable fraud, and fraud.” (Pls.’ Br. at 32 (capitalization modified).) In particular, plaintiffs assert that “[a]t the urging of Fletcher

⁷ Similarly, the trial court did not rely on the so-called “weather exclusion” provision in granting defendants summary judgment, and defendants never relied on that exclusion in denying coverage in this case, so plaintiffs’ argument about that provision, (see Pls.’ Br. at 18 (citing *Dickinson v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, No. 1:06cv198 LTS-RHW, 2008 WL 941783 (S.D. Miss. 2008),) is likewise misplaced.

⁸ In any event, plaintiffs’ arguments that the anti-concurrent causation clause is either ambiguous or unenforceable (or both), (see Pls.’ Br. at 14-18, 23-27,) are incorrect. This Court explained in *Corban* how an anti-concurrent causation clause is to be construed (and reconciled with a hurricane coverage clause), see 20 So.3d at 616, and—as thus construed—the clause is unambiguous and enforceable.

Insurance, Plaintiffs, rather than increasing the amount of coverage under their flood policy, purchased a Hurricane Endorsement.” (*Id.*) According to plaintiffs, their claims against Jay Fletcher Insurance “presented a fact question” regarding “Mr. Robichaux’s credibility” that should have been decided by a jury. (*Id.* at 33.)⁹

Contrary to plaintiffs’ assertion that their fraud claims presented a fact question for the jury, it is black-letter law that such claims require, among other things, proof that the defendant made a materially false representation upon which plaintiffs reasonably relied in a manner that proximately injured them. *See, e.g., Koury v. Ready*, 911 So.2d 441, 445 (Miss. 2005). Here, plaintiffs allege that Jay Fletcher Insurance told them that their homeowners policy would cover flooding damage from a hurricane, and that they reasonably relied on that representation by purchasing less flood insurance than they otherwise would have done. (*See* R. 351, R.E. 10 at 17; R. 519, R.E. 18 at Exh. 2.) As the trial court explained, however, plaintiffs failed to create a genuine issue of material fact regarding any such reliance, because the undisputed factual record showed that they purchased as much flood insurance as they could afford, and indeed that flood insurance more than covered the losses at issue here. (*See* R. 2015-16, R.E. 31 at 14-15; *see also* R. 755, 756, R.E. 18 at Exh. 7.) Moreover, any such reliance on alleged oral representations by Jay Fletcher Insurance would have been unreasonable as a matter of law, because such representations would have contradicted the written terms of the policy (which plaintiffs had a legal duty to read). *See, e.g., Mladineo*, 52 So.2d at 1166; *see also Stephens v. Equitable Life*

⁹ Although plaintiffs purport to challenge the trial court’s disposition of their unjust enrichment claim, as well as their fraud claims, against Jay Fletcher Insurance, their opening brief presents no argument relating to the court’s disposition of the unjust enrichment claim. Rather, the argument in the brief is limited to the court’s disposition of the fraud claims. (*See* Pls.’ Br. at 32-33.) Accordingly, plaintiffs have waived any challenge to the trial court’s disposition of their unjust enrichment claim against Jay Fletcher Insurance, and cannot raise such a challenge for the first time in their reply brief. *See, e.g., Paw Paw Island*, 51 So.3d at 928; *Bishop*, 882 So.2d at 154-55; *Watts*, 492 So.2d at 1291; *Overstreet*, 474 So.2d at 577.

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